
 
 

 
 
 
Variance requests may be subject to change or alteration upon review of request during preparation of the staff memorandum. Therefore, Sections of 
the Code of Ordinances are subject to change. Changes will be noted during public hearing meeting. 
 
Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the Meridian Township Board by contacting:  
Assistant Planner Keith Chapman, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4580 - Ten Day Notice is Required.  
Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall 
 
 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 
 

AGENDA 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN  

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING 
February 16, 2022 6:30 pm 

 

 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER     
2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
3. CORRECTIONS, APPROVAL AND RATIFICATION OF MINUTES 

A. Wednesday, December 8, 2021 
 

4. COMMUNICATIONS 
5. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
6. NEW BUSINESS 

 
A. ZBA CASE NO. 22-01-19-1 (2075 Grand River Avenue), Frank Gawdun, 1743 East 

McNair Drive Ste. 200, Tempe, AZ 85283 
 
DESCRIPTION: 2075 Grand River 
TAX PARCEL:   21-276-014 
ZONING DISTRICT:  C-3 (Commercial) 
                
The variance requested is to construct a drive-thru canopy in the rear yard setback at 2075 
Grand River. 
 
B. ZBA CASE NO. 22-02-16-1 (5000 Okemos Road), Michigan Department of 

Transportation, 2700 Port Lansing Road, Lansing, MI 48906 
 
DESCRIPTION: 5000 Okemos Road 
TAX PARCEL:   21-226-012 
ZONING DISTRICT:  C-3 (Commercial) 
                
The variance requested is to construct a floodplain compensating cut in the wetland setback 
at 5000 Okemos Road. 
 
C. ZBA CASE NO. 22-02-16-2 (4887 & 4893 Dawn Avenue), Dawn Avenue Associates, 

LLC, 4893 Dawn Avenue, East Lansing, MI 48823 
 
DESCRIPTION: 4887 & 4893 Dawn Avenue 
TAX PARCEL:   20-202-008 & 20-202-007 
ZONING DISTRICT:  I (Industrial) 
                
The variance requested is to create three parcels that do not meet the minimum lot area and 
lot width requirements at 4887 & 4893 Dawn Avenue. 
 



 
 

 
 
 
Variance requests may be subject to change or alteration upon review of request during preparation of the staff memorandum. Therefore, Sections of 
the Code of Ordinances are subject to change. Changes will be noted during public hearing meeting. 
 
Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the Meridian Township Board by contacting:  
Assistant Planner Keith Chapman, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4580 - Ten Day Notice is Required.  
Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall 
 
 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 
 

AGENDA 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN  

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING 
February 16, 2022 6:30 pm 

 

D. ZBA CASE NO. 22-02-16-3 (2090 Grand River Avenue), Johnson Sign Company, 2240 
Lansing Avenue, Jackson, MI 49202 

 
DESCRIPTION: 2090 Grand River Avenue 
TAX PARCEL:   21-226-003 
ZONING DISTRICT:  C-2 (Commercial) 
                
The variance requested is to install a wall sign that exceeds the maximum square footage 
requirement at 2090 Grand River. 
 

7. OTHER BUSINESS 
A. Election of 2022 Officers 
B. ZBA Criteria Ordinance Update 

 
8. PUBLIC REMARKS 
9. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
10. ADJOURNMENT 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS REGULAR MEETING MINUTES *DRAFT* 
5151 MARSH ROAD, OKEMOS, Ml 48864-1198 
(517) 853-4000 
WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 8, 2021 
REGULAR TELEVISED MEETING 
 
PRESENT:  Chair Mansour, Members Opsommer, Hendrickson 
ABSENT:    Vice-Chair Field-Foster 
 
STAFF:        Director of Community and Planning Timothy Schmitt, Assistant Planner Chapman, 

IT Director Stephen Gebes 
 
 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER  

Chair Mansour called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. and called the role of the board. 
 
Vice-Chair Field-Foster is absent. All others present.  

 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

Member Hendrickson moved to approve the agenda as presented. Seconded by Member 
Opsommer. 

 
ROLE CALL TO VOTE:  
YEAS: Members Hendrickson, Opsommer, Chair Mansour  
NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried:   3-0 
 

3. CORRECTIONS, APPROVAL & RATIFICATION OF MINUTES  
A. November 10, 2021 Meeting Minutes 

 
Member Hendrickson moved to approve the minutes from Wednesday, November 10, 
2021 as presented. Seconded by Member Opsommer. 
 
ROLE CALL TO VOTE:  
YEAS: Chair Mansour, Members Opsommer, Hendrickson  
NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried:   3-0 

 
4. COMMUNICATIONS - NONE    

 
5. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
 
A. ZBA CASE NO. 21-10-27-1 (Loveridge & Dohr), 2050 Sheldrake Avenue, Okemos, MI, 

48864  
 



DESCRIPTION: 6074 Columbia Street  
TAX PARCEL: 03-477-004  
ZONING DISTRICT: RB (Single Family, High Density), Lake Lansing Overlay District  

 
The variance requested is to construct a single-family home that does not meet the front yard 
setback and driveway coverage requirements. The variance for the side yard setback has been 
removed since the last meeting.  
 
Assistant Planner Chapman outlined the case for discussion. 
 
Applicant’s representative Timothy Mrozowski 613 Grove St., East Lansing MI, 48823 further 
outlined the case for discussion. 
 
Member Hendrickson thanked Assistant Planner Chapman for his work on this case, and thanked 
the applicant for the changes they’ve made to their plans to require less variances.  
 
Chair Mansour read review criteria one from Section 86-221 of the Code of Ordinances which 
states unique circumstances exist that are peculiar to the land or structure that are not applicable 
to other land or structures in the same zoning district.   
 
Chair Mansour stated criteria one has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria two which states these special circumstances are not self-
created.   
 
Chair Mansour stated criteria two has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria three which states strict interpretation and enforcement of 
the literal terms and provisions of this chapter would result in practical difficulties. 
 
Chair Mansour stated criteria three has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria four which states that the alleged practical difficulties which 
will result from a failure to grant the variance would unreasonably prevent the owner from using 
the property for a permitted purpose.  
 
Chair Mansour stated criteria four has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria five which states granting the variance is the minimum action 
that will make possible the use of the land or structure in a manner which is not contrary to the 
public interest and which would carry out the spirit of this zoning ordinance, secure public safety, 
and provide substantial justice.  
 
Chair Mansour stated criteria five has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria six which states granting the variance will not adversely affect 
adjacent land or the essential character in the vicinity of the property.  
 
Chair Mansour stated criteria six has been met. 
 



 
Chair Mansour read review criteria seven which states the conditions pertaining to the land or 
structure are not as general or recurrent in nature as to make the formulation of a general 
regulation for such conditions practicable.  
 
Chair Mansour stated she does have a hard time with this criteria as many of the parcels in this 
area have required variances. However she does not believe it is fair to hold that against the 
applicant. 
 
Member Hendrickson stated the Planning Commission is working with staff to draft an ordinance 
amendment to address the Lake Lansing overlay district. He also does not believe it is fair to hold 
this against the applicant. 
 
Director Schmitt stated he and staff are working on two fixes to address the Ordinance causing 
issues in this area of the township. 
 
Chair Mansour stated criteria seven has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria eight which states granting the variance will be generally 
consistent with public interest and the purposes and intent of this Chapter.  
 
Chair Mansour stated criteria eight has been met. 
 
Member Hendrickson moved to approve the variances as requested in ZBA CASE NO. 21-
10-27-1 (Loveridge & Dohr), 2050 Sheldrake Avenue, Okemos, MI, 48864. Seconed by 
Member Opsommer.  
 
Member Opsommer thanked Member Hendrickson for his input last meeting and Assistant 
Planner Chapman for his work on this case that led to being able to take this minimum action 
tonight. 
 
ROLE CALL TO VOTE:  
YEAS: Members Opsommer, Hendrickson, Chair Mansour  
NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried:   3-0 

 
6. NEW BUSINESS  
 
A. ZBA CASE NO. 21-12-08-1 (SH G2755 LLC & Green Peak Industries, Inc.), 5030 Northwind 

Drive Ste. 120, East Lansing, MI, 48823  
 
DESCRIPTION: 2755 Grand River, 4972 Northwind Drive, & Vacant Parcel ID #20-127-003  
TAX PARCEL: 20-127-001, 20-127-002, & 20-127-003  
ZONING DISTRICT: C-2 (Commercial)  
 

The variance requested is to exceed the maximum allowed parking spaces at 2755 Grand River, 
4972 Northwind Drive, & Vacant Parcel ID #20-127-003. 
 
Assistant Planner Chapman outlined the case for discussion. 



 
Applicant’s representative Robert Ford 809 Center St., Lansing MI, further outlined the case for 
discussion. 
 
Member Opsommer asked who the tenant is. 
 
Mr. Ford replied Trader Joe’s is the proposed tenant. 
 
Member Hendrickson stated the property is already paved over so no pervious land is going to 
be lost by approving extra parking spaces. He further stated that he believed this business would 
do well in the township as there appears to be a large demand. 
 
Chair Mansour stated that as the land is already paved over the space could be a safety hazard 
and wasted space if the variance is not approved. 
 
Member Opsommer asked if the applicant had met with Hobby Lobby to discuss shared parking. 
 
Mr. Ford stated they had considered it, but at this time are not sure if it is an option. He further 
stated this project would increase the impervious space by 14%. 
 
Chair Mansour asked what would happen if the variance is not approved. 
 
Mr. Ford stated he could not speak directly for the client, but he assumed they would look for 
another location. 
 
Chair Mansour read review criteria one from Section 86-221 of the Code of Ordinances which 
states unique circumstances exist that are peculiar to the land or structure that are not applicable 
to other land or structures in the same zoning district. 
 
Chair Mansour stated Criteria one has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria two which states these special circumstances are not self-
created.   
 
Member Hendrickson stated that since the land had already been paved over the applicant did 
not create this situation themselves. 
 
Chair Mansour stated Criteria two has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria three which states strict interpretation and enforcement of 
the literal terms and provisions of this chapter would result in practical difficulties. 
 
Member Opsommer stated that not granting this variance would create practical difficulties as it 
is inevitable that customers will start parking in neighboring lots. 
 
Chair Mansour stated Criteria three has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria four which states that the alleged practical difficulties which 
will result from a failure to grant the variance would unreasonably prevent the owner from using 
the property for a permitted purpose.  



 
Chair Mansour stated Criteria four has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria five which states granting the variance is the minimum action 
that will make possible the use of the land or structure in a manner which is not contrary to the 
public interest and which would carry out the spirit of this zoning ordinance, secure public safety, 
and provide substantial justice.  
 
Member Hendrickson stated that having sufficient parking on site is critical to public safety. 
 
Chair Mansour stated Criteria five has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria six which states granting the variance will not adversely affect 
adjacent land or the essential character in the vicinity of the property.  
 
Chair Mansour stated Criteria six has been met. 
 
Chair Mansour read review criteria seven which states the conditions pertaining to the land or 
structure are not as general or recurrent in nature as to make the formulation of a general 
regulation for such conditions practicable.  
 
Chair Mansour stated Criteria seven has been met. 

 
Chair Mansour read review criteria eight which states granting the variance will be generally 
consistent with public interest and the purposes and intent of this Chapter.  
 
Chair Mansour stated Criteria eight has been met. 
 
Member Hendrickson moved to approve the variance as requested for ZBA CASE NO. 21-
12-08-1 (SH G2755 LLC & Green Peak Industries, Inc.), 5030 Northwind Drive Ste. 120, East 
Lansing, MI, 48823. Seconded by Chair Mansour. 
 
ROLE CALL TO VOTE:  
YEAS: Members Opsommer, Hendrickson, Chair Mansour  
NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried:   3-0 

 
7. OTHER BUSINESS  
 
A. 2022 Meeting Schedule  

 
Chair Mansour outlined the 2022 Meeting Schedule. 
 
Chair Mansour moved to adopt the resolution approving the 2022 Zoning Board of 
Appeals Meeting Schedule. Seconded by Member Opsommer. 
 
ROLE CALL TO VOTE:  
YEAS: Chair Mansour, Members Hendrickson, Opsommer  
NAYS: None 



 
Motion carried:   3-0 
 

 
8. PUBLIC REMARKS 
 

Chair Mansour opened the floor for public remarks at 7:27 pm 
 
None 
 
Chair Mansour closed public remarks at 7:27 pm 

 
9. MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
Member Hendrickson 

• Announced that if a resident of Meridian Township would like to serve on the Zoning 
Board of Appeals you may submit an applicant to the township. Applications can be found 
on the township website at:   
 
https://www.meridian.mi.us/Home/Components/FormBuilder/FormBuilder/ab645b1
f6ad340fa8df777891a5f6bbe/1365  

 
10.  ADJOURNMENT 
 

Chair Mansour Adjourned the meeting at 7:28 pm. 

https://www.meridian.mi.us/Home/Components/FormBuilder/FormBuilder/ab645b1f6ad340fa8df777891a5f6bbe/1365
https://www.meridian.mi.us/Home/Components/FormBuilder/FormBuilder/ab645b1f6ad340fa8df777891a5f6bbe/1365


±

Mt. Hope Rd.

Meridian Township

Location Map
1. ZBA #22-01-19-1 (2075 Grand River)

2. ZBA #22-02-16-1 (5000 Okemos)
3. ZBA #22-02-16-2 (4887 & 4893 Dawn)
4. ZBA #22-02-16-3 (2090 Grand River)

Ma
rsh

 Rd
.

Jolly Rd.

Haslett Rd.

Lake Lansing Rd.

Ok
em

os
 R

d.

Ha
ga

do
rn

 R
d.

Pa
rk 

La
ke

 R
d.

Do
bie

 R
d.

Va
n A

tta
 R

d.

Me
rid

ian
 R

d.

Gree
n R

d.

Co
rn

ell
 R

d.
Grand River Ave.

kj1kj
kj

kj 43 2



VARIANCE APPLICATION SUPPLEMENT 
 
 
A variance will be granted, if the following Review Criteria are met: 
 
 1. Unique circumstances exist that are peculiar to the land or structure that are not applicable to 

other land or structures in the same zoning district. 
 
 2. These special circumstances are not self-created. 
 
 3. Strict interpretation and enforcement of the literal terms and provisions of this chapter would 

result in practical difficulties. 
 
 4. That the alleged practical difficulties which will result from a failure to grant the variance 

would unreasonably prevent the owner from using the property for a permitted purpose.  
 
 5. Granting the variance is the minimum action that will make possible the use of the land or 

structure in a manner which is not contrary to the public interest and which would carry out 
the spirit of this zoning ordinance, secure public safety, and provide substantial justice. 

 
 6. Granting the variance will not adversely affect adjacent land or the essential character in the 

vicinity of the property. 
 
 7. The conditions pertaining to the land or structure are not so general or recurrent in nature as 

to make the formulation of a general regulation for such conditions practicable. 
 
 8. Granting the variance will be generally consistent with public interest and the purposes and 

intent of this Chapter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\FORMS\VARIANCE APPLICATION SUPPLEMENT-review criteria only.docx 



 

 

To:  Zoning Board of Appeals 

From:  Keith Chapman, Assistant Planner 

Date:  February 10, 2022 

Re:  ZBA Case No. 22-01-19-1 (2075 Grand River) 

 

ZBA CASE NO.:  22-01-19-1 (2075 Grand River), 1743 E. McNair Dr. Ste. 200, Tempe, AZ 
85283 

DESCRIPTION:  2075 Grand River Avenue 
TAX PARCEL:  21-276-014 
ZONING DISTRICT: C-3 (Commercial) 
 
The applicant is requesting a variance from the following section of the Code of Ordinances:  
 

• Section 86-405 (a)(1), Side and rear yards shall be at least 20 feet, except that all buildings 
shall be located in accordance with the Master Plan for Major Streets and Highways, 
Meridian Charter Township, Ingham County, Michigan for established setbacks. This 
subsection does not apply to drive-in uses adjacent to residential districts. 

 
The applicant has requested a variance to construct a 1,280 square foot drive through canopy to 
the existing 4,730 square foot Chick-fil-a site at 2075 Grand River Avenue. The approximate 1.32-
acre site is zoned C-3 (Commercial).  
 
In 2015 a Special Use Permit was granted to allow the construction of the Chick-fil-a drive through 
(SUP #15171). The existing building was constructed in 2016 (SPR #16-05). In 2020 (SPR #20-16-
05) the drive through lane was reconfigured to allow a second drive aisle after the menu boards. 
 
The applicant is proposing to construct a 1,280 square foot drive-through canopy along the south 
property line. The canopy will be used to protect employees from the elements while taking 
outdoor orders. The proposed canopy will be approximately 6’ 10” from the rear property line. 
The required rear yard setback is 20’. The applicant is requesting a variance of 13’ 2” to construct 
the canopy. 
 
Attachments 
1. Application materials 
2. Site location map 
 

 

















W Grand River Ave

Ok
em

os
 Rd

C-3

C-2

C-2
PO

±



 

 

To:  Zoning Board of Appeals 

From:  Keith Chapman, Assistant Planner 

Date:  February 10, 2022 

Re:  ZBA Case No. #22-02-16-1 (5000 Okemos Road) 

 

ZBA CASE NO.:  22-02-16-1 (5000 Okemos Road), 2700 Port Lansing Road, Lansing, MI 
48906  

LOCATION:  5000 Okemos Road 
PARCEL ID:  21-226-012 
ZONING DISTRICT: C-3 (Commercial) 
 
The applicant is requesting variances from the following sections of the Code of Ordinances:  
 
• Section 86-471(b)(1), all structures and grading activities shall be setback from the edge of a 

water feature as follows: Wetlands regulated by the Township, the state, or by federal law 
equal to or greater than two acres in area; 40 feet. 

 
• Section 86-471(c)(1), to minimize erosion, stabilize streambanks and wetland edges, protect 

water quality, and preserve fish and wildlife habitat, a natural vegetation strip shall be 
maintained from the edge of a water feature as follows: Wetlands regulated by the Township, 
the state, or by federal law; 20 feet. 

Michigan Department of Transportation, the applicant, has requested a variance to allow for a 
compensating cut within the 100-year floodplain located at 5000 Okemos Road. The compensating 
cut is to offset the placement of 12,953 cubic yards of fill to raise Grand River Avenue two feet to 
alleviate flooding at the Grand River Avenue and Okemos Road intersection. The compensating cut 
will remove 14,926 cubic yards of dirt on property owned by Meridian Township that currently 
contains a Meridian Township Fire Station. The Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, 
and Energy (EGLE) issued a permit for the proposed work in the floodplain on November 4, 2021. 
The approximate 24.59-acre site is zoned C-3 (Commercial). 
 
There is one wetland located on the property. The wetland extends offsite to the south and is 
approximately 19.11 acres overall in size, with approximately half of it being located on the subject 
site. Because the wetland is greater than five acres in size it is regulated by both the State of 
Michigan and the Township.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

ZBA Case No. 22-02-16-1 (5000 Okemos Road) 
Zoning Board of Appeals (February 16, 2022) 
Page 2 

The Zoning Ordinance specifies activities that are prohibited within the 20 foot and 40-foot 
wetland setbacks. The 40-foot wetland setback prohibits any structures or grading. Within the 20-
foot wetland setback trees, shrubs, and ground cover may be selectively pruned or removed to 
provide reasonable private access or views to water features, to remove potentially hazardous or 
nuisance exotic vegetation, and to improve or protect wildlife habitat. Such pruning and removal 
activities are subject to the following: 1. No more than 10% of the length of the strip shall be clear 
cut or mowed to the depth of the strip. 2. Pathways accessing water features shall not exceed 10 
feet in width. 3. A live root system shall be maintained to provide for streambank stabilization and 
erosion control.  
 
At the closest point the compensating cut would be located 0’ from the wetland boundary, 
encroaching 20’ into the 20-foot natural vegetation strip and 40’ into the 40-foot wetland setback.  
The applicant is requesting a 20’ variance for the compensating cut within the 20-foot natural 
vegetation strip and a 40’ variance for the compensating cut within the 40-foot wetland setback. 
 
 
Attachments 
1. Variance application dated October 19, 2021 and received by the Township on December 29, 

2021. 
2. Site location map. 
 
 
 



 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
 PLANNING DIVISION 
 5151 MARSH ROAD, OKEMOS, MI  48864 
 (517) 853-4560 
 

 VARIANCE APPLICATION 
 

A. Applicant  _______________________________________________________________ 
 Address of Applicant ______________________________________________________ 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
Telephone (Work) _____________________  Telephone (Home) __________________ 

 Fax ______________________  Email address: ________________________________ 
 Interest in property (circle one): Owner  Tenant  Option  Other 
 
B. Site address/location ______________________________________________________ 
 Zoning district ____________________   Parcel number __________________________ 
 
C. Nature of request (Please check all that apply): 

 Request for variance(s) 
 Request for interpretation of provision(s) of the “Zoning Ordinance” of the Code of 

Ordinances 
 Review an order, requirements, decision, or a determination of a Township official 

charged with interpreting or enforcing the provisions of the “Zoning Ordinance” of 
the Code of Ordinances 

 
Zoning Ordinance section(s) ______________________________________________________ 
 
D. Required Supporting Material  Supporting Material if Applicable   
 -Property survey      -Architectural sketches  
 -Legal description      -Other 
 -Proof of property ownership or  
  approval letter from owner  
 -Site plan to scale 
  -Written statement, which demonstrates how all the review criteria will be met (See 

 next page) 
 
 
__________________________ __________________________ _________________ 
Signature of Applicant   Print Name    Date 
 
Fee:  ___________________________  Received by/Date: __________________________  
 

 
   I (we) hereby grant permission for members of the Charter Township of Meridian Zoning 

Board of Appeals, Township staff members and the Township’s representatives or 
experts the right to enter onto the above described property (or as described in the 
attached information) in my (our) absence for the purposes of gathering information 
including but not limited to the taking and the use of photographs.  (Note to Applicant(s): 
This is optional and will not affect any decision on your application.) 

 
______________________________________         ________________________________ 
Signature of Applicant(s)    Date 
______________________________________         ________________________________ 
Signature of Applicant(s)    Date 
 

 



VARIANCE APPLICATION SUPPLEMENT 
 
 
A variance will be granted, if the following Review Criteria are met: 
 
 1. Unique circumstances exist that are peculiar to the land or structure that are not applicable 

to other land or structures in the same zoning district. 
 
 2. These special circumstances are not self-created. 
 
 3. Strict interpretation and enforcement of the literal terms and provisions of this chapter 

would result in practical difficulties. 
 
 4. That the alleged practical difficulties which will result from a failure to grant the variance 

would unreasonably prevent the owner from using the property for a permitted purpose.  
 
 5. Granting the variance is the minimum action that will make possible the use of the land or 

structure in a manner which is not contrary to the public interest and which would carry out 
the spirit of this zoning ordinance, secure public safety, and provide substantial justice. 

 
 6. Granting the variance will not adversely affect adjacent land or the essential character in 

the vicinity of the property. 
 
 7. The conditions pertaining to the land or structure are not so general or recurrent in nature 

as to make the formulation of a general regulation for such conditions practicable. 
 
 8. Granting the variance will be generally consistent with public interest and the purposes 

and intent of this Chapter. 
 
 
Effect of Variance Approval: 
 
 1. Granting a variance shall authorize only the purpose for which it was granted. 
 
 2. The effective date of a variance shall be the date of the Zoning Board of Appeals approves 

such variance. 
 
 3. A building permit must be applied for within 24 months of the date of the approval of the 

variance, and a Certificate of occupancy must be issued within 18 months of the date the 
building permit was issued, otherwise the variance shall be null and void. 

 
 
Reapplication: 
 

1. No application for a variance, which has been denied wholly or in part by the Zoning Board 
of Appeals, shall be resubmitted until the expiration of one (1) year or more from the date 
of such denial, except on grounds of newly discovered evidence or proof of changed 
conditions found by the Zoning Board of Appeals to be sufficient to justify consideration. 

 
 
 
G:\Community Planning & Development\Planning\FORMS\Applications\VARIANCE-rev 1.6.17.doc 



This notice must be displayed at the site of work.
Laminating this notice or utilizing sheet protectors is recommended.

Please refer to the above permit number with any questions or concerns.

NOTICE OF AUTHORIZATION

Permit Number:  WRP031475 v. 1 Date Issued: November 4, 2021
Site Name: 33 - M-43 Grade Raise, wetland, floodplain of Red Cedar River

Expiration Date: November 4, 2026

The Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE), Water Resources Division, 
P.O. Box 30458, Lansing, Michigan 48909-7958, under provisions of the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451, as amended; specifically:

 Part 31, Floodplain Regulatory Authority of the Water Resources Protection.

 Part 301, Inland Lakes and Streams.

 Part 303, Wetlands Protection.

 Part 315, Dam Safety.

 Part 323, Shorelands Protection and Management.

 Part 325, Great Lakes Submerged Lands.

 Part 353, Sand Dunes Protection and Management.

Authorized activity:

Raise the existing M-43 road grade two feet to alleviate flooding along M-43 and Short 
Street and M-43 and Okemos Road by placing 12,953 cubic yards of fill in the Red Cedar 
River floodplain.  Remove 14,926 cubic yards of material as compensatory cut to create 
a 1,973 cubic yard floodplain relief site upstream adjacent to Pine Lake Outlet, which 
flows to the Red Cedar River.  The project will impact 0.14 acres of adjacent wetland to 
be mitigated at a 1:1 ratio at the M-84 Crane Road Mitigation Site. Storm water will be 
treated in-line with the addition of catch basins/hydrodynamic storm separators prior to 
outlet to the Red Cedar River. No other work in wetland is authorized

To be conducted at property located in: Ingham County, Waterbody:  Red Cedar River
Section 21, Town 04N, Range 01W, Meridian Township

Permittee: 
James Neal - Michigan Department of Transportation
4701 W. Michigan Avenue
Jackson, Michigan 49201

Issued By:
Holly Vickers
Transportation Review Unit
Water Resources Division
616-295-2787

EGLE-WRD
WRP031475 v1.0

Approved
Issued On:11/04/2021

Expires On:11/04/2026

30



CONSTITUTION HALL • 525 WEST ALLEGAN STREET • P.O. BOX 30473 • LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-7973
Michigan.gov/EGLE • 800-662-9278

STATE OF MICHIGAN

DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENT, GREAT LAKES, AND ENERGY

LANSING

October 27, 2021

Mr. Tom Killingsworth
Michigan Department of Transportation
SUBJECT: NPDES Permit No. MIR116845 33082 – 113491A

Designated Site Name:  MDOT-M-43 from Park Lake Rd to Cornell Rd-Ingham
Authorization to Discharge Storm Water from Construction Activities under the National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)

This is to acknowledge that the Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) received 
your complete Notice of Coverage form and $400 fee.  On October 25, 2021, you became authorized, 
under NPDES, to discharge storm water from your construction activities at M-43 from Park Lake Rd to 
Cornell Rd, Ingham Co, Okemos, MI 48864.  The NPDES authorization number for this site is 
MIR116845.  Please refer to this number in all future correspondence with the EGLE concerning this 
permit.

PLEASE NOTE:  The authorization to discharge storm water pursuant to the provisions of Michigan's 
Permit-by-Rule expires on October 24, 2026, or when the project has been completed by the stabilization 
of earth-change activities.  A Notice of Termination (NOT) must be submitted to the EGLE once the 
construction site is completely stabilized.  If the NOT is submitted prior to the complete stabilization of the 
site, a new administratively complete NOC, including the fee, must be submitted to obtain storm water 
authorization.  The NOT form is available in and submitted via the EGLE’s MiWaters system.  The 
MiWaters Web site is located at https://miwaters.DEQ.state.mi.us.

Please be advised that the authorization to discharge requires that the soil erosion and sedimentation 
controls be under the supervision of a state-certified storm water operator.  A copy of Michigan's Permit-
by-Rule can be found on EGLE’s Web site at https://www.michigan.gov/egle; click on “Water”, then “Water 
Permits”, then click on “Surface Water,” and then click on “Storm Water.”  These requirements must be 
followed during the entire period of your storm water discharge authorization.

The issuance of this permit does not authorize the violation of any federal, state, or local laws or 
regulations, nor does it obviate the necessity of obtaining such permits, including any other EGLE permits, 
or approvals from other units of government as may be required by law.

If you have any questions about your authorization to discharge storm water, please contact Ms. Tiffany 
Wilson, Permits Section, Water Resources Division, at 517-256-1425, or wilsont15@michigan.gov, or your 
agency contact, Ms. Danielle McLain at 517-899-7034, or McLainD2@michigan.gov.

Sincerely,

Tarek Buckmaster, Supervisor
Industrial and Storm Water Permits Unit
Permits Section
Water Resources Division

GRETCHEN WHITMER
GOVERNOR

LIESL EICHLER CLARK
DIRECTOR

mailto:wilsont15@michigan.gov


CS:

JN:

TSC:

DATE:

DESIGN UNIT:

DRAWING SHEET

    

      

      

                      

                      

                      

        

      
0    

HORZ. (FT)

              

                    

                                          

                                          

                                          

 SECT
DESCRIPTIONAUTH

             

             

                          

                          

DESCRIPTIONAUTH

             

             

                          

                          

DATE NO. DATENO.

FINAL ROW PLAN REVISIONS   (SUBMITTAL DATE:           )

                                  

                                          

FILE:                               

 

 

 

 
 

 

 113491_M43_CutSite_Detail.dgn

M43

07/01/21 SITE PLAN

SITE

 

33082

113491A

 

RICK

LANSING

 

 

 

1

100 YR FLOOD PLAIN COMPENSATING CUT SITE
100

M-43

835 835 835

8
3
5

840 840

845 845

8
4
5

8
4
5

850

8
5
0

850 850

8
5
0

8
5
0

850

855 855

8
5
5

855855

855

860 860

8
6
0

860860

PS

Due East 0  1  2  3  4

POT=4+10.25POT=0+00.00

E = 13,107,554.96

N = 446,445.03

E = 13,107,965.20

N = 446,445.03

8
4
0

840

8
4
0

840

840

84
0

8
4
0

8
4
0

8
4
0

840

840

8
4
0

840

8
4
0

840

840840

840

8
4
0

850

8
5
0 85

0

85
0

850

85
0

850

850

850

850

85
0

850

8
5
0

850

85
0

N

OKEMOS DRAIN

O
K
E

M
O

S
 

D
R

A
IN

P
A

R
K
 

D
R

C
E

N
T

R
A

L OKEMOS RD

OKEMOS RD

5000 OKEMOS  RD

FIRE STATION

CENTRAL

MERIDIAN TWP

A

A
TEMPORARY ACCESS DRIVE

1:3

1:3

100 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 110 120 130 140 150 160 170 180 190 200 210-10-20-30-40-50-60-70-80-90-100-110-120-130-140-150-160-170-180-190-200-210-220-230-240-250

SECTION A-A

C

C

    MERIDIAN TWP    

 T4N, R1W 

SECTION 21

    MERIDIAN TWP    

 T4N, R1W 

SECTION 16

    MERIDIAN TWP    

 T4N, R1W 

SECTION 21

    MERIDIAN TWP    

 T4N, R1W 

SECTION 16

820

825

830

835

840

845

850

855

860

865

870

875

EX POND

H
IL

L
C

R
E
S

T
 

A
V

E

FILL TOTAL FROM M-43 - BELOW ELEV 842.1 = 12,953 CYD

CUT TOTAL FROM SITE - BELOW ELEV 842.1 = 14,926 CYD

100 YR FLOOD ELEV 842.1

PR BOTTOM EL 834.0

PR TOP EL 862.0

NON-LEGAL ALI

CC SITE

50 SCALE (HORIZ & VERT)

CC SITE NON-LEGAL ALI

BY MDOT - OCTOBER 2020

EX WETLAND DELINEATION

BY MDOT - OCTOBER 2020

EX WETLAND DELINEATION

US POSTAL SERVICE

33-02-02-16-400-024

MERIDIAN CHARTER TWP

33-02-02-21-226-012

MILMAR MALL LLC

33-02-02-21-226-013

QUANTITIES THIS SHEET

Slope Restoration, Type B

Slope Restoration, Type A

Erosion Control, Silt Fence

Excavation, Earth

Embankment, CIP

Clearing

Cut Site | 100 | Cut-Fill Site

(All)

(blank)

(All)

(All)

(All)

M43_CUT_SITE

Items

Syd

Syd

Ft

Cyd

Cyd

Acre

Unit

5400

10150

450

20725

20725

3

CAT 0001

JN 113491

#1

   FOR CONSTRUCTION.

   SECTION 104.07.C.3 OF THE 2020 STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS

   THE MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP PROPERTY SHALL BE REPAIRED PER

3. ANY DAMAGE CAUSED BY THE CONTRACTORS OPERATIONS TO 

   PLANNED START OF WORK @ (517)853-4460.

   (MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP ENGINEER) 7 DAYS PRIOR TO THE 

   DRIVE OFF OF CENTRAL PARK DR. CONTACT YOUNES ISHRAIDI

2. ACCESS SITE THROUGH MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP FIRE STATION

   ACTIVITIES AT THIS SITE.

1. INSTALL SILT FENCE PRIOR TO BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION

NOTES



C-3
RAA

RDDRAAA

C-2

Ok
em

os
 Rd

DR
IVE

WA
Y

Central Park Dr

Hillcr

est Ave

DR
IVE

WA
Y

DRIVEWAY

±



 

 

To:  Zoning Board of Appeals 

  Keith Chapman, Assistant Planner 

Date:  February 10, 2022 

Re:  ZBA Case No. 22-02-16-2 (4887 & 4893 Dawn Avenue) 

 

ZBA CASE NO.:  22-02-16-2 (4887 & 4893 Dawn Avenue), 4893 Dawn Avenue, East 
Lansing, MI 48823   

DESCRIPTION:  4887 & 4893 Dawn Avenue 
TAX PARCEL:  20-202-008 & 20-202-007 
ZONING DISTRICT: I (Industrial) 
 
The applicant is requesting variances from the following sections of the Code of Ordinances:  
 

• Section 86-435 (f)(1), Minimum lot area: one acre. 
 

• Section 86-435 (f)(2), Minimum interior lot width. 100 feet. 
 
Dawn Avenue Associates, LLC, the applicant in conjunction with Meridian Township, has 
requested variances to create three parcels that are under the minimum lot area of one acre and 
the minimum lot width of 100 feet at 4887 & 4893 Dawn Avenue. The land division is necessary to 
construct a portion of the Meridian Township trail system along the Red Cedar River. The 
approximate 2.54-acre site is zoned I (Industrial).  
 
Currently, there are two lots with frontage on Dawn Avenue. The north parcel is approximately 
1.047 acres in lot area and has 232 feet of lot width on Dawn Avenue. The south parcel is 
approximately 1.178 acres in lot area and has 214 feet of lot width on Dawn Avenue. A 21,578 
square foot industrial building occupies the north parcel, and the south parcel contains a parking 
lot.  
 
The proposal is to create three parcels which consists of a north, south, and trail parcel. The north 
parcel would have of lot area of 1.004 acres and 232 feet of lot width, the south parcel would have 
0.885 acres of lot area and 185 feet of lot width, and the new trail parcel will have approximately 
0.65 acres in lot area and 29.89 feet in lot width. The following table summarizes the variance 
request: 
 
Parcel Lot Area Lot Width Proposed Lot 

Area 
Proposed 
Lot Width 

Variance 
Request 

North 1.047 acres 232 feet 1.004 acres 232 feet - 
South 1.178 acres 214 feet 0.885 acres 185 feet 0.115 acres 
Trail - - 0.65 acres 29.89 feet 0.35 acres & 

70.11 feet 
 



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Zoning Board of Appeals 
February 16, 2022 
RE: ZBA Case No. 22-02-16-2 (4887 & 4893 Dawn 
Avenue) 
Page 2  

 
Attachments 
1. Application materials 
2. Site location map 
 

 













Da
wn

 Av
e

Red Cedar River

Railroad

I

RA

RAA

RC

C-2

PO*
RP±



 

 

To:  Zoning Board of Appeals 

From:  Keith Chapman, Assistant Planner 

Date:  February 10, 2022 

Re:  ZBA Case No. 22-02-16-3 (2090 Grand River) 

 

ZBA CASE NO.:  22-02-16-3 (2090 Grand River), 2240 Lansing Avenue, Jackson, MI 
49202 

LOCATION:  2090 Grand River Avenue 
PARCEL ID:  21-226-003 
ZONING DISTRICT: C-2 (Commercial) 
 
The applicant is requesting a variance from the following section of the Code of Ordinances:  
 
• Section 86-687(3)(c), Wall signs. In the case of multitenant structures, one wall sign shall be 

permitted for each tenant having an individual means of public access up to a size equivalent 
to one square foot for each one lineal foot of building frontage occupied. 
 

Johnson Sign Company, the applicant, is requesting a variance to install a wall sign at 2090 Grand 
River Avenue. The 0.963-acre subject property is zoned C-2 (Commercial) and is located at the 
northeast corner of Grand River Avenue and Okemos Road. The 7,500 square foot multitenant 
commercial building has three tenants. The proposed wall sign is for Nothing Bundt Cakes which 
occupies the westernmost tenant space of the building. Access to the space is located on the south 
side of the building.  
 

LOCATION MAP 
 

 
 



 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

ZBA Case No. 22-02-16-3 (2090 Grand River) 
Zoning Board of Appeals (February 16, 2021) 
Page 2 

Per the Township’s zoning ordinance, a multitenant building is permitted one (1) wall sign for 
each tenant having an individual means of public access and building frontage on a public street.  
The size of the wall sign is equivalent to one square foot for each one linear foot of building 
frontage occupied.  
 
The 2,414 square foot tenant space for Nothing Bundt Cakes has approximately 35 linear feet of 
frontage on Grand River Avenue, as measured from the dividing wall of the tenant space to the 
outside wall of the west building façade. Based on 35 linear feet of frontage, one 35 square foot 
wall sign is permitted.   
 
A 52.57 square foot sign is proposed for the south façade facing Grand River Avenue. The applicant 
is requesting a variance of 17.57 square feet.  
 
History 

• A variance request was denied by the Zoning Board of Appeals under ZBA Case #14-08-27-1 to 
permit the installation of a wall sign on the west façade where there is no means of public 
access. 

• According to Meridian Township Building department records the 7,500 square foot 
multitenant commercial building was constructed in 1981. 

Attachments 

1. Variance application materials. 
 

 

 

 























 

 

To:  Zoning Board of Appeals  
 
From:  Keith Chapman, Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  February 9, 2022 
 
Re: Election of Chair and Vice-Chair 
 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals rules of procedure require that at the first regular meeting each 
calendar year the Board must select from its members a Chair and Vice-Chair.  In accordance with 
Section 86-62(c)(5) of the Code of Ordinances, an elected official of the Township cannot serve as 
chair or vice-chair of the Zoning Board of Appeals.  The general duties of each position are as 
follows: 
 
Chair: The chair shall preside at all meetings, authorize calls for special meetings, and perform 
such other duties as may be specified by the Zoning Board of Appeals. 
 
Vice-Chair: The vice-chair shall act in the capacity of the chair in the chair’s absence.  In the event 
the office of the chair becomes vacant, the vice-chair shall succeed to this office for the unexpired 
term. 
 
At the meeting on February 16, 2022 the current chair will request nominations for the officer 
positions listed above.  Once nominations are made the Zoning Board of Appeals will vote on each 
office.  The Board member receiving the most votes will serve in that position.  The elected officer 
will begin serving immediately after being selected and will remain in office for the remainder of 
the year.  Current officers may be re-elected. 
 
 
 



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-02 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 86-221, REVIEW CRITERIA, OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP 3 
OF MERIDIAN ZONING CODE TO UPDATE THE STANDARDS THEREIN 4 

 5 
THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ORDAINS: 6 
 7 
Section 1. Section 86-221, Review criteria, is hereby amended to read as follows:  8 
 9 

In the review of an application for a variance, the Zoning Board of Appeals should 10 
determine if the following criteria are satisfied: 11 

 12 
(1) Unique circumstances exist that are peculiar to the land or structure, that are not 13 

applicable to other land or structures in the same zoning district and these unique 14 
circumstances are not self-created. 15 
These special unique circumstances are not self-created. 16 

(2) Strict interpretation and enforcement of the literal terms and provisions of this 17 
chapter would result in practical difficulties that would prevent the owner from using 18 
the property for a permitted purpose. . 19 
That the alleged practical difficulties which will result from a failure to grant the 20 
variance would unreasonably that would prevent the owner from using the property 21 
for a permitted purpose. 22 

(3) Granting the variance is the minimum action necessary that will make possible the 23 
use of the land or structure in a manner which is not contrary to the public interest 24 
and which would carry out the spirit of this zoning ordinance, secure public safety, 25 
and provide substantial justice. 26 

(4) Granting the variance will not adversely affect adjacent land or the essential character 27 
in the vicinity of the property. 28 
The conditions pertaining to the land or structure are not so general or recurrent in 29 
nature as to make the formulation of a general regulation for such conditions 30 
practicable. 31 

(5) Granting the variance will be generally consistent with public interest and the 32 
purposes and intent of this chapter. 33 

 34 
Section 2. Validity and Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and the 35 

invalidity of any phrase, clause or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity 36 
or effectiveness of the remainder of the Ordinance. 37 

 38 
Section 3.  Repealer Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict therewith are 39 

hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and 40 
effect. 41 

 42 
Section 4.  Savings Clause.  This Ordinance does not affect rights and duties matured, penalties 43 

that were incurred, and proceedings that were begun, before its effective date. 44 
 45 
Section 5.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective seven (7) days after its publication 46 

or upon such later date as may be required under Section 402 of the Michigan Zoning 47 
Enabling Act (MCL 125.3402) after filing of a notice of intent to file a petition for a 48 
referendum. 49 

 50 



2 
 

ADOPTED by the Charter Township of Meridian Board at its regular meeting this XXth day of 1 
XXXXXXX, 2022.  2 
 3 
 4 

______________________________ 5 
Ronald J. Styka, Township Supervisor 6 

 7 
 8 

______________________________ 9 
Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 10 


	February 16, 2022 Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting Agenda
	6. NEW BUSINESS
	A. ZBA CASE NO. 22-01-19-1 (2075 Grand River Avenue), Frank Gawdun, 1743 East McNair Drive Ste. 200, Tempe, AZ 85283
	The variance requested is to construct a drive-thru canopy in the rear yard setback at 2075 Grand River.
	B. ZBA CASE NO. 22-02-16-1 (5000 Okemos Road), Michigan Department of Transportation, 2700 Port Lansing Road, Lansing, MI 48906
	The variance requested is to construct a floodplain compensating cut in the wetland setback at 5000 Okemos Road.
	C. ZBA CASE NO. 22-02-16-2 (4887 & 4893 Dawn Avenue), Dawn Avenue Associates, LLC, 4893 Dawn Avenue, East Lansing, MI 48823
	The variance requested is to create three parcels that do not meet the minimum lot area and lot width requirements at 4887 & 4893 Dawn Avenue.
	D. ZBA CASE NO. 22-02-16-3 (2090 Grand River Avenue), Johnson Sign Company, 2240 Lansing Avenue, Jackson, MI 49202
	The variance requested is to install a wall sign that exceeds the maximum square footage requirement at 2090 Grand River.

	December 8 2021 ZBA Draft Minutes
	PRESENT:  Chair Mansour, Members Opsommer, Hendrickson

	ZBA location map
	VARIANCE APPLICATION SUPPLEMENT-review criteria only
	ZBA Packet
	STAFF REPORT
	Application
	00-3695-Chick-Fil-A Planning Sub. No.1
	01-Site Plan A-1
	02-Enlarged Canopy Plan
	03-Elevation Plan A-3
	04-Material Board A-4

	Site Location Map

	ZBA Packet
	ZBA 22-02-16-1 staff report.zba1
	ZoningBoardofAppealsVarian
	113491_EGLE Permit
	M-43 from Park Lake Rd to Cornell Rd, Ingham Co.
	113491_M43_CutSite_Detail
	Site Location Map

	ZBA Packet
	STAFF REPORT
	Application
	Site Location Map

	ZBA Packet
	ZBA 22-02-16-3 staff report
	Application
	Sign Packet
	Sign Plan

	2022 election of officers
	ZBA Standards Change REDLINED

	Applicant Name: Michigan Department of Transportation
	Applicant Address: 2700 Port Lansing Road, Lansing MI 48906
	Applicant Address 2: 
	Telephone Home: 
	Telephone (work): 517-897-2928
	Fax number: 
	email address: craigmilea2@michigan.gov
	Zoning district: RDD
	Site location address: Meridian Township Central Fire Station 5000 Okemos
	Parcel number: 33-02-02-21-226-012
	Zoning Ordinance sections: 86-471 Setbacks from Water features b1 Wetlands 40ft
	Print Name: Alex M Craigmile
	Date: 10-19-21
	Fee: 
	Received byDate: 
	Date_2: 
	Date_3: 
	Check Box1: Off
	Check Box2: Off
	Check Box3: Off
	Check Box4: Yes
	Check Box5: Yes
	Check Box6: Off
	Check Box7: Off


